IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 78,411

FIFE SID J. WHITE JAN 28 1993

SLERK, SUPPEME COURT

1

Chief Deputy Clerk

By.

HENRY GARCIA, Appellant,

v.

# STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF FLORIDA

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ANTHONY C. MUSTO P. O. Box 16-2032 Miami, F1. 33116-2032 305-285-3880 Fla. Bar No. 207535 •

Ň

#### INTRODUCTION

Appellant was the defendant in the trial court and Appellee was the prosecution. The parties will be referred to in this brief as "Defendant" and "the State." The symbol "R" will constitute a reference to the record on appeal. The symbol "T" will constitute a reference to the transcript of proceedings. The symbol "T" followed by a date will constitute a reference to the transcript of proceedings on that date in 1991. For instance, the symbol "T 5/20" will constitute a reference to the transcript of proceedings occurring on May 20, 1991.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Defendant was charged with the murder of Julia Ballentine, the murder of Mabel Avery, sexual battery "by forcibly inserting a penis and/or some other object into the vaging" of Julia Ballentine and burglary by "remaining" in the home of Ballentine and Avery with the intent to commit sexual battery and/or theft (R 1-3).

Defendant's initial trial ended in a mistrial (T 499). He was convicted of the four offenses in a second trial and sentenced to death as to each of the murder charges, but those convictions and sentences were reversed by this court. <u>Garcia v.</u> <u>State</u>, 564 So.2d 124 (Fla. 1990). In Defendant's third trial, which gives rise to the present appeal, Defendant was again convicted of the four charges. Despite the fact that the jury recommended a life sentence for the murder of Mabel Avery and a death sentence for the murder of Julia Ballentine (T 5/28 75), the court, finding four aggravating circumstances and no mitigating circumstances as to each murder, imposed a sentence of death for **each** killing (R 188-195). Acting on the State's request, the court enhanced the sentences for sexual battery and burglary, imposing consecutive life sentences on those charges (R 193).

The evidence at trial demonstrated that on the evening of January 16, 1983, or the morning of January 17, 1983, Ballentine, 90, and her sister, Avery, 86, were stabbed to death in the home they shared. Ballentine received 30 stab wounds (T 688), nine of them defensive (T 696), while Avery received 14 stab wounds (T 644), nine of which were defensive (T 645). In the rear of the victims' home, a screen had been slashed and glass and a door were broken (T 411). The sound of the glass breaking was heard by a neighbor (T 5/20 7-8). No eyewitnesses or physical evidence tied Defendant to the crime.

The only testimony as to the sexual battery charge was the following testimony of Dr. John Marraccini (T 699).

Q. Would you enumerate, for the members of the jury, how many circumstances you encountered during the autopsy which suggested to you that she had been sexually assaulted?

A. Well, she had a variety of injuries. She had a bruise on her labia, which are the folds in the outer genital area.

She had an abrasion going around the back of the vagina, near the

entrance part of the vagina.

She had an anal laceration that was about an eighth of an inch long in the anal canal, and there was also hemorrhage in this area, indicating that her blood pressure was there.

She was alive when these injuries were inflicted.

So all these things taken together are a clear indication of a sexual battery having occurred.

The doctor then went on to testify that the injury in the anal area was more suggestive of having been inflicted with a knife than the injuries to the other areas (T 699-700). The other injuries, the doctor stated, looked as though they could have been done with a variety of objects "not particularly typical of a penis, but rather fingers or something else (T 700)."

Sgt. Anne Gribbons testified that she did not observe a purse or wallet in either of the victims' bedrooms (T 446). Crime scene investigator Dave Gilbert testified that the police did not find in the victims' home any pocketbooks, purses, change purses, wallets, powder cases, lipsticks, credit cards, social security cards, Medicare cards or prescription cards (T 542-543). He did not testify that no cash was found. Det. John LeClair, one of the co-lead detectives, stated that he had made no effort to find any personal property of the victims and that he did not know it the victims had any credit cards (T 5/21 78). There was no indication that any searching for valuables occurred in the victims' house (T 476, 557). There was no evidence that anything was taken from the house.

On the evening that the killings occurred, Defendant was supposed to go on a date with a woman named Marylou (T 739). When he arrived for the date, he found Marylou with her old boyfriend (T 740) and became mad and upset (T 740). As a result, Defendant, who had consumed at least one beer shortly before his confrontation with Marylou (T 738), spent the evening with Feliciano Aguayo. Defendant drank more beer at a Circle K store (T 740), after which he and Aguayo went to the Sky Vista Amusement Center, where alcohol was sold (T 740). Although Aguayo did not remember whether Defendant had anything to drink there, it is clear that Defendant and Aguayo spent 30 to 40 minutes there, left to take Aguayo's mother somewhere, returned and stayed at the Sky Vista until about 11:00 p.m. (T 740-741). When they left, Aguayo dropped Defendant off at another bar, the Leisure Lounge (T 779).

At about 7:00 a.m. (T 608) the following morning, Defendant, still upset (T 743), appeared at Aguayo's house (T 743), which was located a half mile from the victims' house (T 5/20 45). Defendant had blood on his shirt, pants, shoes and forehead (T 607, 744). Defendant was in possession of a knife that was also bloody (T 750).

Defendant told Aguayo that he had been walking home from a bar when two men and a woman got out of a car and started beating him with a tire jack (T 746-747). Defendant indicated that in the struggle, he struck one of the men and stabbed the woman (T 747). Defendant also described the route he took to get to Aguayo's home (T 753-754).

Aguayo gave Defendant a ride home and on the trip, Defendant kept repeating, "I told them not to get me mad. I have this animal inside of me (T 755)."

Later that day, Aguayo and his mother, Elizabeth Feliciano, went to the corn field where Defendant said the attack had occurred, but saw no signs of a struggle (T 758).

LeClair spoke with Defendant on September 25, 1985 (T 5/21 10) and Defendant related the events of the evening in question in a manner similar to how he related them to Aguayo (T 5/21 25-31).

The State introduced a series of aerial photographs that had to be assembled together, a process that took 45 minutes to an hour (T 5/20 39-40) and that resulted in an end product that was so large that the courtroom was too small for it to be set up there, causing the trial to be shifted for a period to a larger courtroom (T 5/20 31).

Using the aerial photographs, LeClair testified to the routes referred to by Defendant in an effort to show that in light of the distances involved and the alternative routes available, it was improbable that Defendant would have proceeded in the manner he said he did (T 5/20 32-53; 5/21 6-46).

The State also presented the testimony of Rufina Perez-Cruz, who had worked with Defendant as a farm worker. Perez-Cruz testified that shortly after the killings, she saw Defendant with some men and that Defendant said, "I got in trouble with these women, but I don't have to worry about it because they are already in hell (T 816)." She said that one of the men then used a slang Mexican expression that was reported as "te la chingastes (T 816)," and that, in English, means, "Did you fuck them up? (T 816)." According to Perez-Cruz, Defendant replied, "Yes, but I don't have to worry

about them, because they are already in hell (T 816)." She also testified that one of the men asked, "How did you do it? (T 817)," and that Defendant said, "I went in through the back door and I ripped out the screen door (T 817)." Perez-Cruz said that Defendant then saw her looking at him and stopped talking (T 817). On cross examination, Perez-Cruz indicated that Defendant and the other men were laughing and that "it seemed like they were joking (T 834)."

The defense introduced into evidence payroll records (R 83, 85) that indicated that Defendant was not working with Perez-Cruz at the time she claimed to have heard him make the statements to which she testified (T 5/22 13-14, 17).

The only witness during the penalty phase of the trial was Marraccini, who indicated that each of the victims experienced great pain from their injuries (T 5/28 21-35).

Additional facts pertaining to particular issues are set forth in the Argument portion of this brief and are hereby incorporated.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

There was no evidence of premeditation and the evidence failed to prove the underlying felonies charged in the indictment. Thus, the first degree murder convictions, as well as the convictions for sexual battery and burglary, must be vacated with directions that Defendant be discharged as to those offenses. Moreover, since a new trial is required for each of a number of reasons, that new trial should be for second degree murder only.

Among the reasons why a new trial is warranted include the fact that the jury instructions as to the elements of the offenses were fundamentally flawed in that they allowed the jury to convict Defendant of the crimes based upon methods of commission that differed from the methods charged. The court also made numerous errors in reading testimony to the jury that resulted in portions that were read being misleading and unduly emphasized, portions being inconsistent with the reporter's notes and portions not being recorded by the reporter. Moreover, the court improperly allowed the introduction by the State of highly prejudicial hearsay and the misuse and overuse of gory, inflammatory photographs that were at best marginally necessary. The court further

1.

allowed the prosecution to undertake an effort throughout the trial to place a burden on Defendant to prove his innocence by proving a defense based on his pretrial statements that he never raised at trial. In addition, the court gave confusing, contradictory and misleading instructions as to circumstantial evidence. The court also improperly excused a juror from the penalty phase based on inconsistent and inclusive comments regarding the death penalty.

Defendant was also deprived of a fair trial by prosecutorial misconduct, which included comments and testimony indicating the personal beliefs of the prosecutor, the police and the court in Defendant's guilt and the credibility of witnesses and suggesting that additional reasons existed for such beliefs, personal attacks on defense counsel, efforts to bolster the credibility of State's witnesses, attacks on Defendant's character and his demeanor off the stand, misstatements of fact and law, appeals to sympathy and comment on Defendant's failure to testify or offer an explanation for the motives of a State witness.

Defendant also maintains that the death sentences were improper. The court should not have found that Defendant was under sentence of imprisonment because the State failed to prove that he was the person named in the documents relied upon, because mandatory conditional release under the federal statute involved was not a sentence of imprisonment and because, even if such release is deemed to be a sentence, the sentence here had not yet begun. The court also erred in finding that Defendant was previously convicted of a felony involving the use or threat of violence because the State failed to prove that he was the person named in the documents relied upon and that the prior offenses involved the use or threat of violence. The finding that the capital felonies were committed while Defendant was engaged in the commission of a sexual battery cannot stand because the evidence of sexual battery was insufficient. In any event, it cannot apply to one of the

killings because that victim died before the acts alleged to constitute the sexual battery occurred. The court also found the capital felonies to be heinous, atrocious or cruel because of constitutional deficiencies in the statute and the jury instruction, errors in the jury instruction given and the fact that the evidence reflected that the killings occurred as the result of a rage and that it could not be determined when the victims lost consciousness.

In addition, numerous mitigating circumstances should have been found. These included the fact that Defendant was under the influence of an extreme mental or emotional disturbance, the fact that Defendant's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired, Defendant's consumption of beer, Defendant's exemplary prison record, the fact that the alternative to death was imprisonment for 50 years without parole, the lack of premeditation, Defendant's employment, the life sentence imposed on a codefendant and, assuming Defendant's contention as to the impropriety of the finding that Defendant had been previously convicted of a violent offense is accepted, the lack of a significant history of prior criminal activity.

Further, the court made numerous errors in instructing the jury as to the mitigating circumstances. These errors resulted in Defendant receiving a sentencing hearing that was fundamentally unfair.

Finally, the court improperly enhanced Defendant's sentences for sexual battery and burglary in light of the fact that the jury failed to make a finding as to the presence of an enhancing factor and the fact that the prosecutor specifically waived the right to such a finding.

#### ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTIONS FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL.

# A. FIRST DEGREE MURDER

When "the only proof of guilt is circumstantial, no matter how strongly the evidence may suggest guilt a conviction cannot be sustained unless the evidence is inconsistent with any reasonable hypothesis of innocence." <u>Jaramillo v. State</u>, 417 So.2d 257, 257 (Fla. 1982); <u>McArthur v. State</u>, 351 So.2d 972, 976, n. 12 (Fla. 1977). When the State's evidence fails to exclude a reasonable hypothesis that the homicide occurred other than by premeditated design, a verdict of first degree murder cannot be sustained. <u>Hall v. State</u>, 403 So.2d 1319 (Fla. 1981); <u>Smith v.</u> State, 568 So.2d 965 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990).

Premeditation is the one essential element which distinguishes first degree murder from second degree murder. <u>Tien Wang v. State</u>, 426 So.2d 1004 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983), rev. denied, 434 So.2d 889 (Fla. 1983); <u>Polk v. State</u>, 179 So.2d 236 (Fla. 2d DCA 1965). Premeditated design to effect the death of a human being is more than simply an attempt to commit homicide, <u>Tien Wang</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Littles v. State</u>, 384 So.2d 744 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980) and more than an intention to kill must be proved to sustain a first degree murder conviction.<sup>1</sup> <u>Miller v. State</u>, 76 Fla. 136, 77 So. 669 (1918); Tien Wang, supra.

In the present case, there was no evidence of premeditation. The State was unable to present any witnesses or physical evidence that even placed Defendant at the home of the victims. Rather, the State showed that the victims were killed and tried to link Defendant to the killings by his appearance the following morning, by what the State asserted was an improbable version of events recounted by Defendant and by certain statements made by Defendant that in no way demonstrated premeditation. In fact, Defendant's statement, "I told them not to get me mad. I have this animal inside of me (T 755)," implies a lack of premeditation. Also

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The prosecutor apparently was unaware of this fact, as she defined premeditated murder during voir dire as "something that somebody intends to do (T 219)."

suggesting a lack of premeditation was the fact that Defendant was mad and upset both before and after the killings (T 740, 742). See the discussion of Defendant's mental and emotional condition in Section B (2) (a) of Point XI. Further, even the State's theory of the case recognized that the killer "was already pretty mad" and that he got "madder and madder (T 5/22 118-119)." It is thus clear that the State's evidence failed to exclude the reasonable hypothesis that the killings here occurred by other than premeditated design.<sup>2</sup>

As noted in <u>Jenkins v. State</u>, 120 Fla. 26, 161 So. 840, 840 (1935), "In cases where capital punishment has been exacted by a jury's verdict in a first-degree murder conviction, the evidence of the premeditated design ought to be supported by something more than guess work and suspicion ... ." The evidence here offered no more than a suspicion of premeditation. Defendant's motions for judgment of acquittal as to first degree murder were therefore improperly denied (T 5/21 99-101; 5/22 34-35) and the judgments and sentences for the murder counts must be reversed with directions to reduce the convictions to ones for second degree murder and to sentence accordingly.<sup>3</sup> <u>Hall</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Purkhiser v. State</u>, 210 So.2d 448 (Fla. 1968); <u>Sheffield v. State</u>, 73 So.2d 65 (Fla. 1954); <u>Douglas v. State</u>, 152 Fla. 63, 10 So.2d 731 (1942); <u>Smith</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Tien Wang</u>, <u>supra</u>; Florida Statutes § 924.34.

<sup>3</sup> Of course, if this court agrees that a new trial is required for any of the reasons set forth in the subsequent points of this brief, the matter should be remanded with directions to grant a new trial for second degree murder and to enter a judgment of acquittal as to first degree murder.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The murder convictions cannot be sustained on a felony murder theory since, as will be demonstrated in Sections B and C of this point, there was insufficient evidence of the sexual battery and burglary charges. Moreover, even if it is said that there was sufficient evidence of sexual battery, the first degree murder conviction for the killing of Mabel Avery cannot be upheld. As detailed in Section A (3) (b) of Point XI, even the State's theory of the case recognized that Mabel Avery was killed before the killer encountered and committed the sexual battery upon Julia Ballentine. Since it is the commission of a homicide in conjunction with intent to commit the felony which supplants the requirement of premeditation for first degree murder, there must be some causal connection between the homicide and the felony. Bryant v. State, 412 So.2d 347, 350 (Fla. 1982). With regard to the killing of Mabel Avery, even the State's theory of the case asserts no connection.

B. SEXUAL BATTERY

#### 1. INSUFFICIENT PROOF OF PENETRATION

Defendant was charged with violating Florida Statutes § 794.011 (3), "by forcibly inserting a penis and/or some other object into the vagina of" Julia Ballentine (R 2). The only testimony presented by the State with regard to this offense was the following testimony of Dr. John Marraccini (T 699).

Q. Would you enumerate, for the members of the jury, how many circumstances you encountered during the autopsy which suggested to you that she had been sexually assaulted?

A. Well, she had a variety of injuries. She had a bruise on her labia, which are the folds in the outer genital area.

She had an abrasion going around the back of the vagina, near the entrance part of the vagina.

She had an anal laceration that was about an eighth of an inch long in the anal canal, and there was also hemorrhage in this area, indicating that her blood pressure was there.

She was alive when these injuries were inflicted.

So all these things taken together are a clear indication of a sexual battery having occurred.

The doctor then went on to testify that the injury in the anal area was more suggestive of having been inflicted with a knife than the injuries in the other areas (T 699-700). The other injuries, the doctor stated, looked as though they could have been done with a variety of objects "not particularly typical of a penis, but rather fingers or something else (T 700)."

The evidence therefore in no way demonstrated that Defendant was guilty of "inserting a penis and/or some other object into the vagina" of Julia Ballentine. At most, the evidence showed union by some object other than a penis with the vagina. Union by such an object does not fall within the definition of "sexual battery," which is "oral, anal, or vaginal penetration by, or union with, the sexual organ of another or the anal or vaginal penetration of another by any other object." Florida Statutes § 794.011 (1) (h).<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Union with the penis of the vagina does constitute sexual battery, but the charge here did not include such an allegation (R 2) and the doctor's testimony demonstrated in any event that such an allegation would not have been supported by the evidence.

### 2. INSUFFICIENT PROOF OF INTENT

The evidence here was also insufficient to prove the intent necessary to proof of sexual battery. It is clear that Julia Ballentine's injuries occurred during a struggle in which she received stab wounds from her face (T 698) down to the lower part of her leg (T 701). The fact that some of the wounds she received were in the area of her vagina is not enough to mandate the conclusion that a sexual battery was committed.

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