### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 78,411

HENRY GARCIA,

Appellant,

SID J. WHITE

FILED

JUN 4 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

Chief Deputy Clerk

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

### ON APPEAL FROM CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA CRIMINAL DIVISION

#### BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Tallahassee, Florida

FARIBA N. KOMEILY Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0375934 Department of Legal Affairs P. O. Box 013241 401 N. W. 2nd Avenue, Suite N921 Miami, Florida 33101 (305) 377-5441

###

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

The Appellant has also complained of improper testimony, with respect to suspects, from Detectives Leclaire and Gilbert, and prosecutorial comment thereon. These contentions have been fully addressed in point IV herein, and the State relies upon said arguments. In various subparts of the instant point, the Appellant has also complained of other parts of the State's rebuttal argument in response to defense counsel's personal attacks. Brief of Appellant, pp. 46-47. These arguments will thus be addressed herein.

The first of the remainder of comments complained of was the prosecutor's remark, immediately after defense counsel's closing argument, that: "Now I would like to address in a rapid fashion the issues Mr. Diaz raises. There is an old adage in the courtroom, it goes something like this: when you can't attack the law, attack the facts, when you can't attack the facts attack the prosecutor. . . ." (T. 1398-99). Obviously, this was in response to the previously quoted remarks by defense counsel. <u>Ferguson, Barber, Brown, supra</u>.

The Appellant next complains of the prosecutor's comments with respect to Feliciano Aquayo. Brief of Appellant, p. 46. The evidence at trial reflected that defense counsel never questioned Aguayo about any arrest by the police. However, on cross-examination of Detective Leclair, who was assigned to these homicides two years after they occurred, and whose direct examination was limited to the defendant's statements to him, defense counsel asked: "Had you already learned Feliciano Aguayo had been arrested January 18, 1983?" (T.1174). Defense counsel continued: "Did you inquire of Mr. Aguayo what impact, if anything, [his arrest on] January 18, 1983 had in his claims to the police .. " (T.1174). On redirect, the State inquired of this witness if he knew what Aquayo had been arrested for in 1983. (T.1207). He responded that it was a traffic related offense. Id. In closing argument, defense counsel nevertheless persisted: "Mr. Aguayo, nobody here said anything until I asked the detective what impact if any, his arrest on the 18th of January had in his alleged willingness to cooperate and to be so helpful to the police and maybe just stretch the truth a little, you know. . . . " (T.1390-91). In light of the foregoing comment, the prosecutor merely elaborated on the sequence of the evidence presented, and stated that defense counsel knew Aguayo had been arrested only for a traffic related offense that had nothing to do with this case, and thus Aguayo had no motive to lie. This was a fair response to the defense argument. Moreover, the State is entitled to refer to the evidence as it exists and point out that there is an absence of evidence on a certain issue. White v. State, 377 So. 2d 1149, 50 (Fla. 1980).

Finally, the Appellant complains of the prosecutor's remarks, in to defense counsel's comments as to the medical examiner's response "speculations" with respect to a knife recovered during the investigation. Brief of Appellant, p. 47; T. 1378-79, 1411. The evidence at trial reflects that during the cross-examination of the medical examiner, defense counsel elicited that the former had received a knife with a broken tip, and that this witness could not recall how the knife was found or what had happened to it. (T. 932-93). Subsequent testimony established that said knife had nothing to do with the investigation, as it had been in custody, at the Homestead Air Force Base, since December, 1982, approximately a month prior to the homicides herein. In light of the foregoing, the prosecutor's comments that the (T. 1171). defense counsel had brought up "a knife," and left it "hanging" and "knows its not going to be tied up," because he found out later the rest of the story about the knife being obtained in December, 1982, was an accurate comment on the evidence presented and in response to the defense counsel's argument.

Thus, as seen above, not only were the complained of comments unpreserved and not prejudicial in light of the court's instuctions, but they were also in direct response to the defense counsel's arguments, and fair comment on evidence presented without objection at trial.

## B. Comments attacking defense counsel

The comments herein again were either not objected to or when objected to, were sustained. There were no requests for curative instructions or a motion for mistrial. These comments are thus unpreserved and not prejudicial, as noted in the introduction to this point. The State would also note that, initially, the Appellant complains of the prosecutor's questions to Detective Leclair on redirect examination, which referred to some of the defense counsel's questions on cross-examination and characterized these questions as "speculative." Brief of Appellant at pp. 44-45. The questions on crossexamination are reflected at T. 1178, 1185, 1196, 1202-03. It should be noted

that Detective Leclair was not assigned to these homicides until two years after their occurrence. As noted by the trial judge, at sidebar, during defense counsel's examination, the questioning was a "charade": "Your [defense counsel's] questions are the kind of questions that gives the jury all kinds of information and expect them not to hear it and have me sustain it." (T. 1134). The prosecutor's characterization of said questions as "speculative" and her remark that defense counsel wanted the jury to think about "speculative people. . .", was thus fair and did not prejudice the jury as noted in the preceding section. <u>Ferguson, Barber, Brown, Paramore</u>.

The Appellant has also complained of other remarks during the prosecutor's initial closing argument. Again, these remarks are unpreserved because they were not objected to, and no motion for mistrial was requested. Craig, supra. Moreover, the remarks reflect accurate comments on the evidence presented, and not an "attack" on the defense counsel, as claimed by the Initially, the Appellant complains of the prosecutor's remark that Appellant. defense counsel spent some time trying to challenge the time of death. Brief of The record reflects that on cross-examination, defense Appellant, p. 45. counsel repeatedly asked the medical examiner whether, based upon the physical examination of the bodies alone, and setting aside the physical evidence at the scene, the time of death could have been any time within 36 hours of discovery. (T. 915-17). On redirect, the prosecutor established that taking into account all of the physical circumstances, the time of death was the early morning hours of Sunday. (T. 939-40). Likewise, in reference to Mrs. Feliciano's knowledge of the time when the defendant arrived at her house, the evidence reflected that defense counsel spent a significant amount of time asking the details and timing of her chores, reading habits, etc., throughout that day. (T.828-875). Nevertheless, the witness was still sure of the time because it was a church day and she was getting her children awake. (T.813-14). The prosecutor merely recounted this evidence (T. 1354) and stated, "where is the great mystery for

Mr. Diaz? It is obvious this woman knew what time it was because her kids have to go . . . " <u>Id</u>. Finally, the Appellant complains of the prosecutor's remark that, "I guess all of these people, independent of each other, got together, maybe they were all looking for a reward that didn't exist, and conjured up this grand scheme to convict that man of these murders. . . ." (T. 1369). The argument was in response to the defense counsel's opening statements that this was an unsolved crime, where the witnesses' recollections had been influenced by "offers of rewards" and passage of time, and that some may have simply lied. (T.615-16). The complained of remarks, in addition to being unpreserved and nonprejudicial, were thus fair comments on the evidence and again in response to the defense arguments.

#### C. Credibility of the State's Witnesses

The Appellant has complained that during the examination of witnesses Aguayo, Perez-Cruz and Evans, the State elicited testimony that these witnesses did not know about any rewards offered for assistance in solving the homicides and that these witnesses had spoken to the police, in 1983, in accordance with their trial testimony. None of the testimony about which the Appellant now complains was objected to at trial. Under such circumstances, this issue is not preserved for appellate review. Jalbert v. State, 95 So.2d 589 (Fla. 1957) (admission of hearsay testimony without objection at trial not preserved for appellate review); <u>Hills v. State</u>, 428 So.2d 318 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983) (same); Stone v. State, 547 So.2d 657 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989).

#### D. Alleged Attacks on Defendant's Character

Appellant contends that during examination of witness Perez-Cruz, the prosecutor erroneously elicited that the defendant in 1983 looked different, as he had previously had long hair with a bandana and a moustache; he did not appear as he had in court. The Appellant states that the "only possible reason for this testimony was to create a "stereotypical image" of a criminal. The State would first note that none of this testimony was in any way objected to

(T.1032). The issue is thus not preserved for appellate review. <u>Castor</u>, <u>supra</u>. Moreover, the purpose of eliciting said information was in no way related to the defendant's character. As noted previously, defense counsel, throughout trial, had argued that the perpetrator had been a "drifter," living in the woods, without access to bathing facilities, and with "dirty" hair, because a hair found on a rug at the victims' home was caked with dirt. During a preceding witness' examination, the defense attempted to elicit that by contrast, the defendant was a well groomed individual at the time of the crime. (T. 977-79). The prosecutor's subsequent questions as to the defendant's appearance at that time was thus in no way an attack on his character or designed to create a "stereotypical image."

## E. Misstatements of Fact

The Appellant initially complains about the prosecutor's argument as to payroll records admitted into evidence at trial. The Appellant states that there was no evidence to support the prosecutor's argument that, "in 1985 September, Mr. Trevino and his daughter told police that the records didn't exist and they don't get produced." (T.1409). The State would again note that the comment was not objected to and is thus unpreserved. Moreover, the prosecutor's argument was supported by the record. Rufino Perez had testified that within several days of the instant crimes she had overheard the defendant speaking to several workers in the fields. Sgt. Radcliff testified that he had qone to Trevino, in September 1985, and requested the "work records of a group of individuals that were working in an effort to gain more witnesses," (T.1088), with the purpose of finding, "a list of individuals that Henry Garcia had been talking to." (T.1010). Ms. Paz, Trevino's daughter, testified that she had been present when the police had made the above request. (T.1317). She stated that she had supplied the payroll records at issue. (T.1326). Sqt. Radcliff stated that said records had not been produced. (T.1088-89). A prosecutor is entitled to argue reasonable inferences and inconsistencies in the evidence presented.

<u>Kramer</u>, <u>supra</u>, at S267. The prosecutor's argument was clearly supported by the testimony.

The Appellant also argues that the prosecutor's argument that the defendant had dated Irma Paz was erroneous. The State would note that witness Perez-Cruz testified that the defendant and Irma "were friends." (T. 1037). In response to questions as to whether she knew the "nature of the relationship between Irma Trevino and the defendant," and "who Mr. Garcia saw on a social basis," the witness stated: "I know about him and Marylou,<sup>7</sup> . . . He would talk to Marylou, but he would talk to Irma too. That's what I was trying to say." The prosecutor's remarks with respect to the defendant having (T. 1036-37). dated Irma were a reasonable inference from the evidence presented. The prosecutor, however, mistakenly attributed the source of this information to both Perez-Cruz and Ida Paz, to whom the question had not been posed. The State would note that upon objection by defense counsel that, there was no evidence of any dating, the trial court promptly instructed the jury:

Ladies and gentlemen, if you remember this as evidence as an accurate comment on the evidence, accept it. If you don't reject it.

(T. 1407). Any impropriety with respect to the prosecutor's confusion in this matter was thus corrected by the trial court. <u>Steinhorst</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 339. (Any impropriety in argument was cured by the trial judge's advising the jurors that they were the sole judges of evidence, where the "prosecutor attributed to appellant a particularly callous remark regarding one of the victims when the testimony showed it was actually made by [another witness].").

#### F. Alleged Misstatements of Law

The Appellant has claimed that the prosecutor's remarks during voir dire: (1) that, "the defendant begins the trial with the presumption of innocence, and he's cloaked in an imaginary cloak of innocence during the course

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Marylou and the defendant dated. (T. 949).

of the trial," and that at the conclusion of evidence, after instructions by the court, and if the jury believed that the state proved the charges beyond a reasonable doubt, "you would then have to remove the cloak of innocence from the defendant and find him guilty, if you so believed" (T.295-96); (2) her definition of premeditation (T. 429); (3) a statement that the jurors are finders of what is "true" and "what really happened" (T.403); and (4) statements that a reasonable doubt is a doubt for which you have a reason, were improper. Again, none of these remarks were objected to, and they are unpreserved. <u>Craig</u>, <u>supra</u>. To the extent that the prosecutor may have misstated the law, the trial judge cautioned the jury that, "you are concerned with the law only as I will instruct you at the close of the case". (T. 581). The cautionary instruction cured any impropriety alleged herein. <u>Craig</u>, <u>supra</u> at 864-65 (court's statement to the jury that it would instruct them on the law and that they should follow the instructions of the court, "adequately remedied any impropriety" in the prosecutor's erroneous statements of law).

## G. Alleged appeals to sympathy

Appellant argues that the prosecutor's statement, during opening, while recounting the circumstances of the victims being found by their neighbor, Ms. Flight, that the latter upon finding the victims' telephoned their family in New York, was error. There was no objection to this remark (T.587). Subsequently, witness Flight, although not specifically asked, stated that she had called the family members. (T.622-623). Again, there was no contemporaneous objection, either on the grounds of improper appeal; sympathy, etc., as argued on appeal, or otherwise. (Id). Subsequently, when the witness was asked to identify the photographs of the victims, defense counsel requested a side bar. (T.623). Defense counsel stated that he wished to stipulate to identification photographs and had objections to utilizing this witness for identification, objections to the prosecutor's "handling" of the witness when she had to come to court, and objections to the questioning which called for a narrative and

hearsay (T.624). The court did not overrule the objections but asked to "take these one at a time." (<u>Id</u>). The parties agreed to stipulate the photos into evidence; the court admonished the prosecutor to let someone else help the witness out of court. (T.624-625). Defense counsel made no request to strike the witness' statement, nor did he request any curative instruction or mistrial, on the grounds of hearsay or improper appeal to sympathy, etc. This issue thus has not been preserved for appeal. <u>Craiq</u>, <u>supra</u>. Moreover, due to its isolated nature, it was not harmful.

#### H. Comments on failure to testify

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